THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

DEC 12 2023

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000688

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Haneef A. Childs,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

December 11, 2023

/s/ Aimee J. Zmroczek
Aimee J. Zmroczek, Esq. [S.C. Bar No.: 77193]
A.J. Z. Law Firm, LLC
Post Office Box 11961
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
T-(803) 400-1918; F-(803) 403-8005
aimee@ajzlawfirm.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court erred in accepting appellant's guilty plea without first determining that he was mentally competent to enter a knowing and voluntary guilty plea knowing he was evaluated by multiple mental health professionals?
2. Whether the Court erred in accepting appellant's guilty plea without inquiring in any depth as to nature and effect of medications defendant had been taking at or before his plea, where court was aware that appellant was mentally ill, and medications could have effect on his ability to make knowing and intelligent waiver of his constitutional rights?
3. Whether the Court erred in accepting appellant's guilty plea without finding upon the record the specific factual basis and other terms of the plea agreement with the state?
4. Whether the Court erred in accepting appellant's guilty plea without first making a finding upon the record that the defendant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that when he committed the crime, he was mentally ill as provided in section 17-24-20(a).
5. Whether the Court erred in accepting appellant's guilty plea because he was insane at the time of the crime and he did not have the mental capacity to distinguish between right and wrong; also, that appellant was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law which would make the client not guilty?
6. Whether the Court erred when it refused to swear Appellant and make a proper inquiry when hearing the post-trial motions regarding Appellant asking to withdraw his guilty plea or reconsider the sentence and where the limited colloquy was unclear on Appellant's requests?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Hanif Aquilo Childs, was arrested in connection to an incident on December 3, 2017. Appellant was indicted for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime on March 7, 2017. He plead guilty but mentally ill on May 19, 2021, (R. p. 11, line 22) and on May 28, 2021, (R. p. 501) filed a timely motion to withdraw his plea or in the alternative reconsider his sentence. the state responded to this motion on June 8, 2021, (R. p. 508) and it was heard June 18, 2021, (R. p. 511) and denied. This appeal follows.

The trial judge's determination of competency must have evidentiary support and not be against the preponderance of the evidence. State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 466 S.E.2d 349 (1966). In a criminal case, it is axiomatic that prior to a judge's acceptance of a guilty plea, the judge must determine that the plea is being made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. See Page v. State, 364 S.C. 632, 615 S.E.2d 740 (2005), Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 629 S.E.2d 353 (2006), Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 546 S.E.2d 417 (2001). "The withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Rikard, 371 S.C. 295, 301, 638 S.E.2d 72, 75 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting State v. Riddle, 278 S.C. 148, 150, 292 S.E.2d 795, 796 (1982)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial judge's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an en-or of law." Id. (citing State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 212 (Ct. App. 2002)). "A determination the plea was voluntarily entered 'will normally show the trial judge did not abuse his discretion.'" Id. (quoting Riddle, 278 S.C. at 150, 292 S.E.2d at 796). See also State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 378, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191 (1967) ("A motion to withdraw a plea of guilty, and to be allowed to enter a plea of not guilty, addresses itself to the discretion of the trial judge before whom the plea is entered, and, in the absence of a clear abuse of discretion, this court will not interfere.").

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WITHOUT FIRST DETERMINING THAT HE WAS MENTALLY COMPETENT TO ENTER A KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY GUILTY PLEA

Relevant Facts:

At the beginning of the plea hearing, during the initial colloquy with the Appellant's attorney, the Court was advised that the Appellant wished to plead guilty, but mentally ill to voluntary manslaughter

which was a lesser included charge of murder for which he was indicted. The Court goes on to inquire if the appellant received a competency evaluation. (R. p. 15, line 28). Plea counsel informed the Court a competency evaluation was completed on March 7, 2017, by Dr. Matthew Gaskins who determined Appellant competent to stand trial. The Court inquired if in addition to understanding the charges against him and if he had been able to assist plea counsel in the preparation of his defense. The Court never made a finding of competence on the record. (R. p. 41, line 18)

Law

Before a defendant may plead guilty, it must be established that the defendant is competent and that the defendant's decision to plead guilty is a knowing and voluntary one. Sims v. State, 313 S.C. 420, 423-24, 438 S.E.2d 253, 254-55 (1993) (citing Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 398-401, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993)). The test for competency is the same whether a defendant pleads guilty or goes to trial namely, "whether the defendant has the present ability to consult with his attorney with a reasonable degree of rational understanding" and the requirement that the defendant "have a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him." at 422-23, 438 S.E.2d at 254. "The focus of a competency inquiry is the defendant's mental capacity; the question is whether he has the ability to understand the proceedings." Godinez, 509 U.S. at 401 n.12, 113 S.Ct. 2680 (citing Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975) (observing that a defendant is incompetent if he "lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him"). "The purpose of the 'knowing and voluntary' inquiry, by contrast, is to determine whether the defendant actually does understand the significance and consequences of a particular decision and whether the decision is uncoerced." Id. (citing Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975)). "That the plea be voluntary is not only a requirement of due process, but a premise of the defendant's meaningful participation in the plea process." United States v. Savinon-Acosta, 232 F.3d 265, 268 (1st Cir. 2000) (citing McCall v. United States, 394 U.S. 459, 466, 89 S.Ct. 1166, 22 L.Ed.2d 418 (1969)). S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410(A) (2018) ("Whenever a [trial court] has reason to believe that a person on trial

before him, charged with the commission of a criminal offense ..., is not fit to stand trial because the person lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense as a result of a lack of mental capacity, the [court] shall ... order [an evaluation]"); State v. Burgess, 356 S.C. at 575, 590 S.E.2d at 44 ("Factors to be considered in determining whether further inquiry into a defendant's fitness to stand trial is warranted include evidence of his or her irrational behavior, his or her demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on his or her competence to stand trial."); Id. at 575-76, 590 S.E.2d at 44 (finding the defendant was not entitled to a mental health evaluation when she only presented prior records of mental health treatment but failed to establish how the records addressed her competence to stand trial and when her counsel primarily relied on personal assertions).

Discussion:

Here, there is evidence in the record to support the Court's need to make a finding that further inquiry into Appellant's fitness to stand trial was needed. See State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829 ("[The appellate court] does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the [circuit court]'s ruling is supported by any evidence.").

II. THE COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WITHOUT INQUIRING IN ANY DEPTH AS TO NATURE AND EFFECT OF MEDICATIONS DEFENDANT HAD BEEN TAKING AT HIS PLEA, WHERE COURT WAS AWARE THAT APPELLANT WAS MENTALLY ILL AND MEDICATIONS COULD HAVE EFFECT ON HIS ABILITY TO MAKE KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

Relevant Facts:

As discussed above, Appellant's plea counsel advised the Court that Appellant was going to plead guilty, but mentally ill to a lesser included offense. The Court made a limited inquiry during the plea colloquy with Appellant whether, within the past seventy-two hours he had taken any medication, consumed any alcohol or drugs or been under any influence that would affect his ability to know why he was in court.

That was answered in the negative. During the hearing, the Court heard from two experts and received medical records which reflected that Appellant had been provided medication for his mental illness of paranoid schizophrenia which was untreated at the time of the offense. Additionally, the Court received medical records which included treatment prior to and during his incarceration for the pending charges from the following: Community Council Health Systems Records- Nov. 15, 2010- Sept. 3, 2011; Mercy Philadelphia Hospital Records-Nov. 2, 2015-Nov.13, 2015; CareSouth Carolina Records-Aug. 25, 2016- Sept. 26, 2016; and South Carolina Department of Mental Health Records (transferred to Tri-County Mental Health)-Dec. 16, 2016- March 2, 2021. The last record indicated that Appellant, while incarcerated, was receiving treatment and medication for his mental illness which included having auditory hallucinations. He was taking the following medications: Cogentin-1 mg; Haldol-10 mg; and Trazodone-150 mg.

Law:

Common sense, backed by ample case law, suggests that medication can in some circumstances affect a defendant's mental state to a degree that undermines the defendant's ability to enter a voluntary plea. The critical question is whether the drugs have a capacity to impair the defendant's ability to plead. Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 14-15, 813 S.E.2d 704, 711 12 (2018).

Discussion:

Indeed, the record is utterly devoid of any evidence that Appellant had taken any medication on the day he plead guilty or that he was under the influence of medication which affected his ability to understand what he was doing on the day of his plea. There is no evidence to determine Appellant's ability to understand the guilty plea proceeding and whether he was affected by the mind-altering effects of one or more specific medications. District Court erred in accepting defendant's change of plea without inquiring in sufficient depth as to nature and effect of medications defendant said he had been taking at or around time of changing his plea, where court was aware from its limited inquiry that medications could have effect on defendant's ability to make knowing and intelligent waiver of his constitutional rights. United States v

- III. Whether the Court Erred in accepting appellant's guilty plea without finding upon the record the specific factual basis and other terms of the plea agreement with the state?

Relevant Facts:

As discussed above, Appellant's plea counsel advised the Court Appellant was going to plead guilty, but mentally ill to a lesser included offense. The solicitor provided some bare facts about the shooting itself only that it occurred, not how or why. Additionally, May 28, 2022 in the timely filed motion to withdraw his plea or in the alternative reconsider his sentence plea counsel included facts leading up to the Appellant's plea. Plea counsel begin engaging in negotiations, and an agreement was made the defendant waived his right to jury trial and waved his right to assert his affirmative defense of not guilty by reason of insanity contingent upon a reduction of charges, and a cap of twenty years and a dismissal of the weapons charge. The only negotiations placed on the record was the reduction of the murder charge and a dismissal of the weapons charge.

Law:

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). In Boykin, the United States Supreme Court held that before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he is waiving. Id. For a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea. Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433,405 S.E.2d 391 (1991) (citing State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392,271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). To ensure the defendant understands the consequences of his guilty plea, the trial judge usually questions the defendant about the facts surrounding the crime and punishment that could be imposed. Id. at 434-

433, 405 S.E.2d at 372. Defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and "may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both." State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993). See, e.g., Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (guilty plea not involuntary where the colloquy demonstrated the trial judge asked defendant twice whether he understood there were no promises and that no sentencing recommendations were binding on the judge). Entering a guilty plea result in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). The United States Supreme Court has held that before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving. Id. In addition to the requirements of Boykin, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. Id.

Our Supreme Court has recognized a plea agreement rests on contractual principles. State v. Gates, 299 S.C. 92, 94-95, 382 S.E.2d 886-87 (1989); see also Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971) ("[W]hen a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor ... such promise must be fulfilled."); Alston v. State, 38 Md. App. 611, 379 A.2d 754, 757 (Md.1978) ("When the State's Attorney has given his word in the form of a plea bargain and that bargain is accepted by the trial court, it behooves the State's Attorney to make every reasonable effort to correct any deviation from the bargain when the deviation is called to his attention.")

Discussion:

In this case, there was no written plea agreement in the record, and neither party identified an oral plea agreement meeting the requirements to the circuit court's acceptance of Appellant's plea. The court accepted the pleas and undertook its duty to examine all the pertinent facts necessary to fashion an appropriate sentence even though they were not presented. The Appellant believed that there was a cap of twenty (20) years. He relied on this when entering the negotiations.

IV. THE COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WITHOUT FIRST MAKING A FINDING UPON THE RECORD THAT THE DEFENDANT PROVED BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE THAT WHEN HE COMMITTED THE CRIME, HE WAS MENTALLY ILL AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 17-24-20(A).

Relevant Facts:

Appellant's attorney and the state indicated that Appellant was pleading guilty but mentally ill. The Court accepted Appellant's plea as a free, knowing, voluntary, and intelligent decision. That was an error and that error prejudiced Appellant.

Law:

A plea of "guilty but mentally ill" is proper if, "at the time of the commission of the act constituting the offense, he had the capacity to distinguish right from wrong or to recognize his act as being wrong as defined in Section 17-24-10(A), but because of mental disease or defect he lacked sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-20(A). The burden of proof is on the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt to the trier of fact that the defendant committed the crime, and the burden of proof is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that when he committed the crime, he was mentally ill." S.C.

Code Ann. § 17-24-20(B). See Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994) (finding a guilty plea voluntary where Respondent admitted committing the crimes, acknowledged the potential sentences, and stated that his plea had not been induced by promises). A defendant is guilty but mentally ill if, at the time of the commission of the act constituting the offense, he had the capacity to distinguish right from wrong or to recognize his act as being wrong as defined in Section 17-24-10(A), but because of mental disease or defect he lacked sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.

Where defendant had history of mental disorders and past admissions to state hospital in addition to past adjudication of incompetence to stand trial in homicide prosecution, and statute regarding competency hearing used mandatory wording in providing that "the court shall" set date for such hearing upon receiving report of designated examiners, hearing to determine defendant's competency to stand trial should have been held after defendant was recommitted to Department of Mental Health for purpose of determining his competency and staff of Department concluded he was suffering from "schizophrenia, paranoid type, not psychotic now," but was capable of standing trial. Code 1976, §§ 43-23--410, 44-23--430. State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981)

Discussion:

The Court accepted the guilty plea and the parties had to reopen the record to make a finding of guilty but mentally ill. There was no finding or discussion by the Court of the reasons and basis for the finding in accordance with the law. Additionally, the Court never filled out an "initial commitment from finding the defendant guilty but mentally ill" form as provided by the statute listed in the court forms identified as SCCA 222(a). This prejudiced the Appellant.

V. THE COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA BECAUSE HE

WAS INSANE AT THE TIME OF THE CRIME AND HE DID NOT HAVE THE MENTAL CAPACITY TO DISTINGUISH RIGHT AND WRONG; ALSO, THAT APPELLANT WAS UNABLE TO CONFORM HIS CONDUCT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LAW.

Relevant Facts:

Evidence was presented that Appellant suffered from paranoid schizophrenia. Additionally, hundreds of pages of medical records were introduced about his subsequent medication and treatment.

Law:

In South Carolina, an accused is presumed to be sane, relieving the State from having to prove sanity in every case. However, once the accused presents evidence that suggests insanity, "the presumption (of sanity) disappears, and it is incumbent on the State to present evidence from which a jury could find the defendant sane." The State may present this evidence through either lay testimony or expert testimony, regardless of whether the accused produces experts.

In addition to the finding the statute states:

(D) A court may not accept a plea of guilty but mentally ill unless, after a hearing, the court makes a finding upon the record that the defendant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that when he committed the crime he was mentally ill as provided in Section 17-24-20(A). (Emphasis added)

State v. Milian-Hernandez is the leading case in South Carolina regarding burdens of proof in insanity defense cases. In Milian-Hernandez the State provided testimony that would normally be evidence of rational thought, but because it could be explained by the surrounding circumstances, it was insufficient to survive a directed verdict. Specifically, the State offered two pieces of evidence to rebut the testimony of insanity offered by the accused: (1) the presumption that a defendant is sane, and (2) the fact that the accused fled the scene. The court first noted that

the presumption of sanity disappears once the accused offers evidence of insanity. The court then held that while flight is normally evidence of rational thought, the paranoid delusions of pursuit surrounding the accused's actions were "such as to negate that permissible inference" normally associated with flight. Hence, although the state provided testimony of rational thought, because it could be explained by the surrounding circumstances, it was insufficient to survive a motion for directed verdict.

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