**RECEIVED**

**Jan 25 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY  
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000688

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

HANEEF AQUIL CHILDS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.  
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

105 Main St  
Bennettsville, SC 29512  
(843) 479-6516

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. None of the issues Appellant has raised on appeal are properly preserved for appellate review because those issues were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the plea judge.**

On appeal, Appellant has identified six allegations of error on the part of the plea judge. More specifically, he contends: (1) The Court erred in accepting Appellant's guilty plea without first determining that he was mentally competent to enter a knowing and voluntary guilty plea. (2) The Court erred in accepting Appellant's guilty plea without inquiring in any depth as to nature and effect of medications defendant had been taking at his plea, where court was aware that Appellant was mentally ill and medications could have effect on his ability to make knowing and intelligent waiver of his constitutional rights. (3) The Court erred in accepting Appellant's guilty plea without finding upon the record the specific factual basis and other terms of the plea agreement with the State. (4) The court erred in accepting Appellant's guilty plea without first making a finding upon the record that defendant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that when he committed the crime, he was mentally ill as provided in section 17-24-20(A). (5) The Court erred in accepting Appellant's guilty plea because he was insane at the time of the crime and he did not have the mental capacity to distinguish between right and wrong; also, that Appellant was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (6) The Court erred in not granting Appellant's post-trial motion to withdraw his plea or in the alternative reconsider the sentence. Importantly though, none of those issues were raised or ruled upon and therefore not preserved for Appellate review.

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d

910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). “Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003). Appellant or his counsel did not make any objections at the plea hearing regarding Appellant’s competence that day or the medications that he was taking that day. At the end of the plea hearing Appellant or counsel for Appellant did not make any objections to the trial judge’s findings on the record or the terms of the plea agreement, or any objection to anything at all. Therefore, the following issues were not raised, not ruled upon, and not preserved for appellate review.

**II. The circuit court did not err in accepting Appellant’s guilty plea based on his competence because Appellant was competent at the time of the plea.**

Appellant claims that the circuit court erred in accepting Appellant’s guilty plea without first determining that he was mentally competent to enter a knowing and voluntary guilty plea. Further, Appellant argues that the trial court erred in accepting his guilty plea without inquiring in any depth as to the nature and effect of any medications that the defendant had been taking at his plea. First, these issues are not preserved for appellate review because there was no objection at the time of the guilty plea that Appellant was not competent or that the medications he was taking affected him to an extent that he could not knowingly and intelligently enter into a plea. Second, even if preserved the plea judge did not err because there is evidence in the record to support the trial court’s finding of Appellant’s competence.

Fundamentally, a person must be mentally competent in order to be validly tried for and convicted of a criminal offense. State v. Bellardino, 429 S.C. 563, 567, 841 S.E.2d 621, 623 (2020); see Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975) (“[A] person whose mental condition is such that he lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense may not be subjected to trial.”). A person is considered to be competent to stand trial if that person has: (1) a rational and factual understanding

of the proceedings; and (2) sufficient present *capacity or ability* to consult with and cooperate with defense counsel. Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960); see State v. Bell, 293 S.C. 391, 396, 360 S.E.2d 706, 708-709 (1987) (“[T]he test of mental competence does not focus on whether a defendant in fact cooperates with his counsel; the question is whether he has sufficient mental capacity to do so if he so chooses.”). Generally speaking, all individuals are presumptively competent to stand trial, and, in South Carolina, the defendant bears the burden of establishing incompetency by a preponderance of the evidence in order to be deemed incompetent. State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 39, 503 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1998); see also Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 452-453 (1992) (recognizing it is constitutionally permissible to presume competency and place the burden of establishing incompetency on the defendant); Eaddy v. Dorn, 289 S.C. 356, 359, 345 S.E.2d 513, 515 (Ct. App. 1986) (“Our Supreme Court has held where a person has not been adjudicated incompetent and is not insane so as to warrant confinement in an institution, persons dealing with him have a right to rely on the presumption of mental competency unless they have actual notice otherwise.”). In the case sub judice, the trial judge—when confronted with the issue of Appellant’s competency—was presented with and considered evidence and testimony from an expert forensic psychiatrist, who conducted a court-ordered evaluation of Appellant and concluded Appellant met the requisite legal standard for being competent to stand trial. See United States v. Lebrón, 76 F.3d 29, 32 (1st Cir. 1996) (“If a psychiatrist has determined that a defendant is competent, a court is not required to hold a further evidentiary hearing absent extenuating circumstances.”).

At the guilty plea the trial judge asked Appellant’s counsel if he understood the charges against him, his rights as a defendant and the consequences of being convicted of the crime. (R. 7). Appellant’s counsel confirmed that he did and stated that she agreed with this decision to plead

guilty but mentally ill. (R. 7). Appellant's counsel further informed the court that Appellant had been able to assist her in preparation of his defense. (R. 8). The trial judge was then informed that a competency hearing had been completed by Dr. Matthew Gaskins on March 7, 2017, and Appellant was determined to be competent to stand trial. (R. 8).

On cross-examination of Dr. Gaskins, Appellant's counsel asked if he had any information today that would alter or change the opinion of competency from 2017 to which Gaskins stated that "even though we already assess (sic) capacity formally in 2017, I always briefly go over, now, why are we here?--- we kind of screen for capacity. So full assessment in 2017, we felt he had capacity. And, then, the screening test that we did, basically, in 2019 we felt he had capacity still and I have no other information to change that opinion." (sic) (R. 31). Gaskins also testified that a person with schizophrenia, if properly diagnosed and medicated, could live a normal life without causing problems. (R. 40). Appellant's own forensic psychologist testified that since incarcerated he has been able to consistently maintain his treatment and was therefore properly medicated. (R. 86). Appellant's mom also testified that she spoke with Appellant on a regular basis since he has been in the detention center, and he appeared to be thinking clearly. (R. 54).

The trial judge also completed the colloquy with Appellant. (R. 8-12). In this colloquy the trial judge advised him of what he was charged with, all his rights, consequences of pleading, inquiring whether he was under the influence of drugs or alcohol that would affect the ability to know why he was there, whether he understood everything and if he had any questions. (R. 8-12). Appellant was able to properly follow along in the conversation and through his answers showed that he understood the questions. (R. 8-12). At the end of the plea hearing before the trial judge accepted his guilty plea, Appellant also spoke on his own behalf to the court. He articulately explained his remorse and responsibility. (R. 101). While the trial judge did not specifically find

Appellant competent on the record, the evidence in the record supports the trial judge's implicit finding that Appellant was competent by accepting his plea. Therefore, the court did not abuse his discretion in accepting the plea.

**III. The trial judge did not err in accepting Appellant's guilty plea because a factual basis finding and the terms of the plea agreement were put on the record.**

Appellant alleges that the trial judge erred in accepting Appellant's guilty plea without finding upon the record the specific factual basis and other terms of the plea agreement with the State. Appellant's argument lacks merit because both a factual basis finding, and the terms of the plea agreement were placed on the record.

At the very beginning of the plea hearing the State called the case.

"We're here on indictment 2017-GS-34-54. That's an indictment for murder which we have been agreeable to accept a plea for voluntary manslaughter... He has an additional indictment, your honor, on indictment 2017-GS-34-55. That was an indictment for possession of a weapon during a violent crime. As part of this plea, we are dismissing that particular indictment, but the defendant is entering a plea on voluntary manslaughter on the initial indictment, your honor."

(R. 4). The State then gave a statement of the facts for the record, to which Appellant understood and agreed. (R. 12-15). Both the State and Appellant had a forensic psychologist testify about Appellant's mental state at the time of the crime and at the time of the hearing. (R. 17-44; 60-90). The trial judge heard from Appellant's mom and aunt in regard to the Appellant's mental capacity in the days leading up to the incident. (R. 45-59). Appellant's counsel also gave a description of Appellant's general history as well as his mental history. (R. 90-100). It was after hearing all of this that the trial judge then made the determination to accept Appellant's guilty plea. He stated "I will accept [his] guilty plea. I find it's made knowingly, voluntarily, fully advised of your rights as a defendant, and the nature of the charge against you and the consequences of your guilty plea. I also find that there is a factual basis to support the charge against you. (sic) (R. 107-108). While

the trial judge did not specifically go through each element and the fact that supported it, he did make a finding on the record and the record supports his decision.

Appellant also argues that Appellant allegedly agreed to waive his right to a jury trial, his right to assert his affirmative defense of not guilty by reason of insanity contingent upon a reduction of charges, and a cap of twenty years and a dismissal of a weapons charge. (Initial Brief of Appellant pg. 6). At the later motions hearing, there was some conversation that Appellant had believed there was an agreement to the twenty-year cap for the charges, however the judge determined that an agreement for the twenty-year cap did not exist. The State put on the record an email between the parties that stated “This will confirm that I have agreed to accept a plea of guilty but mentally ill to voluntary manslaughter in the above referenced matter, State v. Childs, with an exposure of 30 years. Please be advised that the siblings of Jackie Purvis will most assuredly be asking for a sentence at or near the higher end of the sentencing spectrum. Under the circumstances, I will not object to a sentence of 20 years and will explain this to the judge in chambers. However, we will not place on the record a cap. The sentence, as always, will be left up to the judge.” (R. 527-528). The trial judge found that there was no agreement to a cap of twenty years, therefore all terms of the plea agreement were placed on the record.

**IV. The trial judge properly accepted Appellant’s guilty but mentally ill plea because Appellant was mentally ill at the time he committed the crime.**

Appellant alleges that the trial judge erred in accepting Appellant’s guilty plea because he did not make a finding upon the record that the defendant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that when he committed the crime, he was mentally ill. A defendant is “guilty but mentally ill” if, at the time of the commission of the act constituting the offense, he had the capacity to distinguish right from wrong or to recognize his act as being wrong as defined in Section 17–24–10(A), but because of mental disease or defect he lacked sufficient capacity to

conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. S.C. Code Ann. §17-24-20(A) (1989 Cum. Supp.). A court may not accept a plea of guilty but mentally ill unless, after a hearing, the court makes a finding upon the record that the defendant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that when he committed the crime, he was mentally ill as provided in Section 17-24-20(A).

As a verdict, guilty but mentally ill exists to: (1) reduce the number of defendants being relieved of criminal responsibility due to mental health issues; and (2) ensure defendants who are mentally ill receive treatment while incarcerated for the benefit of both the defendant and society as a whole. State v. Wilson, 306 S.C. 498, 503-504, 413 S.E.2d 19, 22; see State v. Hornsby, 326 S.C. 121, 130, 484 S.E.2d 869, 874 (1997) (“The GBMI statute ensures the jury applies the legal definition of insanity correctly by underscoring that a person may be mentally ill, yet not legally insane.”). Significantly, if a defendant is guilty but mentally ill in the sense he lacked sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law because of mental disease or defect, the defendant *is* considered to be criminally responsible for his actions, is not considered to be less culpable as a matter of law, and is punished just as he would have been punished if he had simply been found guilty. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-70 (explaining a defendant found to be guilty but mentally ill “must be sentenced by the trial judge as provided by law for a defendant found guilty” but, if sentenced to a term of incarceration, must first be taken to facility designated by the Department of Corrections for treatment); State v. Downs, 361 S.C. 141, 146, 604 S.E.2d 377, 380 (2004) (“Guilty but mentally ill is still guilty. The difference between guilty and GBMI pertains only to post-sentencing medical treatment.”); see also Wilson, 306 S.C. at 508, 413 S.E.2d at 24-25 (“South Carolina does not recognize that one acting under an irresistible impulse is somehow less culpable. Instead, the statutory scheme specifically provides that one acting under such an impulse is *guilty*, albeit guilty but mentally ill.” (footnote and internal quotations omitted)).

Here, Gaskins, the State's forensic psychologist testified that "[Appellant] was criminal responsible on or about December 3, 2016, but that he lacked the capacity to conform on December 3, 2016. So, yes, he cognitively knew it was wrong. But, no, he could not control his actions due to his mental illness." (sic) (R. 30). This was a guilty plea where Appellant asserted that he was guilty but mentally ill and the State put up an expert that testified according to that plea. The fact that Appellant was guilty but mentally ill was uncontested and therefore there wasn't a need for the trial judge to specifically note on the record that he found by a preponderance of evidence that Appellant was guilty but mentally ill. The trial judge's acceptance of the guilty plea implicitly means that he agreed and found that Appellant was guilty but mentally ill. Therefore, the trial judge properly accepted the guilty but mentally ill plea.

**V. The trial judge properly accepted Appellant's guilty but mentally ill plea rather than finding that Appellant was insane.**

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